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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS 

The Nipmuc Nation, 

Plaintiff, 

v. 

Secretary Sally Jewell, The United States 
Department of the Interior, Bureau of Indian 
Affairs, Office of Federal Acknowledgment, and 
the United States of America, 

Defendants. 

Civil Action No.   
 

COMPLAINT FOR DECLARATORY AND OTHER RELIEF 

Plaintiff the Nipmuc Nation (“Plaintiff” or “Nipmuc Nation”), allege and pray for relief 

as follows: 

INTRODUCTION 

1. The Nipmuc Nation submits this Petition for Review of a final administrative 

determination by the defendants denying it federal acknowledgment and seeks a declaration that 

it has satisfied the legal criteria for federal acknowledgment as an Indian tribe under the laws of 

the United States of America.  The defendants, including the Bureau of Indian Affairs (the 

“BIA”), its Office of Federal Acknowledgment (the “OFA”) and its predecessors within the 

Department of the Interior, have: (1) acted arbitrarily and capriciously and have abused their 

discretion in the handling, consideration and determination of the Nipmuc Nation’s Petition for 

Federal Acknowledgment (the “Petition”); (2) wrongfully rendered a Final Determination that is 

contrary to law and not supported by substantial evidence; (3) denied the Nipmuc Nation due 

process of law by applying the incorrect legal standard in its consideration of the standard and 

burden of proof, and by disregarding substantial evidence duly presented in support of the 

Case 4:14-cv-40013   Document 1   Filed 01/27/14   Page 1 of 26



35501005.4 -2-  

Petition and (4) denied the Nipmuc Nation equal protection of the law by its refusal to apply 

federal law and regulations as to the Nipmuc Nation in the same or similar manner that it has 

applied such laws and regulations to other similarly situated petitioning tribes.  These actions, 

individually and in combination, violate the Constitution, laws and treaties of the United States 

and deny the rights of a unique tribe of aboriginal people. 

JURISDICTION 

2. This action arises under the Constitution, laws and treaties of the United States, including 

Article 1, Section 8 of the United States Constitution, prescribing the plenary power of Congress 

over Indian affairs; the Fifth Amendment (due process and equal protection); 25 C.F.R. Part 83 

(federal acknowledgment of Indian tribes regulations); and 5 U.S.C. §§ 701-706 (Administrative 

Procedure Act).  

3. This Court has jurisdiction of the subject matter and the parties pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 

1331, 1361, 1362, 2201 and 2202. 

VENUE 

4. Venue is proper in the District of Massachusetts in accordance with 28 U.S.C. § 1391(e).  

The Nipmuc Nation is located and does business in this District, and the substantial majority of 

underlying acts and omissions that give rise to this claim are based on events, persons and 

entities that have been or are currently located in this District.  The defendants are an Officer, 

Office, Bureau and Department of the government of the United States. 

PARTIES 

5. Plaintiff Nipmuc Nation is the present day political organization of, and successor to, the 

Nipmuc tribe.  Its members are descended from the historical Nipmuc tribe that has resided in 

Central Massachusetts and parts of Rhode Island and Connecticut since prior to United States 
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sovereignty. 

6. Defendant Sally Jewell is the present Secretary of the United States Department of the 

Interior and in this capacity supervises the activities of the Bureau of Indian Affairs in the 

implementation of the United States’ statutory, regulatory, treaty, and trust responsibilities 

toward Indian tribes. 

7. Defendant Department of the Interior, acting through the Defendant Bureau of Indian 

Affairs, and Defendant Office of Federal Acknowledgment, is the administrative agency that 

receives and processes applications from Indian groups for acknowledgment of tribal status in 

accordance with 25 C.F.R. Part 83, and the United States Constitution, statutes, regulations, 

treaties, and legal requirements. 

8. Defendant United States of America includes all governmental agencies and officers, 

including the above-named Defendants, charged with the administration of Indian affairs and 

responsibility for protection of property and rights of the Nipmuc Nation.  Plenary authority over 

Indian affairs is reserved to the United States Congress under Article I, Section 8 of the United 

States Constitution. 

STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

9. Defendants denied the Nipmuc Nation’s right to define itself as a tribe and undertook that 

fundamental responsibility for themselves.  Defendants defined Plaintiff in such a way that 

virtually guaranteed Nipmuc Nation’s failure to satisfy the standards for federal 

acknowledgment.  Defendants disregarded substantial evidence that established the Nipmuc 

Nation satisfied and exceeded all such standards.  In doing so, Defendants wrongfully prevented 

the Nipmuc Nation federal acknowledgment as an Indian tribe and its associated rights. 
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Historical Background 

10. Members of the Nipmuc Nation descend from the aboriginal people in the Nipmuc tribe 

of Worcester County in Central Massachusetts and parts of Rhode Island and Connecticut.  From 

the time of first contact with Europeans in 1621, Nipmuc communities have existed, and 

continue to exist, in this area of New England with concentrations in Grafton, Massachusetts 

(Hassanamisco band), Dudley and Webster in Massachusetts and northeast Connecticut 

(Wabaquasett band).   

11. The Nipmucs lived by hunting, gathering, fishing, planting and harvesting their lands.  

They lived in scattered villages across New England, but were connected by social and political 

gatherings, kinship ties, trade alliances and common enemies.  

12. When the English and the Nipmucs first made contact in 1621 in Sterling, Massachusetts, 

there were more than 5,000 Nipmucs.  

13. Beginning in the 1640’s through 1675, Reverend John Eliot began the process of 

converting many Nipmucs to Christianity through “praying plantations” or “praying towns” 

established in both new locations and at existing settlements.  A goal of these praying towns was 

to encourage emulation of English lifestyles and customs.  Some Nipmucs chose to stay in the 

praying towns for a variety of reasons, including curiosity about the English, survival, education 

and availability of food and clothing.  At least fourteen (14) praying towns were either newly 

established or created on existing settlements, including Hassanamesit town.  Some Nipmucs in 

the praying towns collaborated with and fought for the English. 

14. In 1675 during King Philip’s War, the Massachusetts colonial government removed a 

significant number of Nipmucs, including those from praying towns, to Deer Island in Boston 

Harbor, where they were interned with inadequate food, clothing and shelter.  Hundreds of 
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Nipmucs died from starvation and exposure.  A year later, some of Nipmucs from praying towns 

were released, while the others were killed, sold into slavery or went into hiding.   

15. After King Philip’s war, the Hassanamesit town was sold to English settlers in 1728, 

leaving only 1,200 acres for Nipmuc families, divided into several parcels in present-day 

Grafton, Massachusetts.  Over the years, the Nipmucs lost a significant majority of that land.  

The remaining three and one-half acre parcel of land is now known as the Hassanamisco 

Reservation (the “Reservation”).   

16. The Nipmucs fought alongside the English in Queen Anne’s and King George’s Wars in 

the 1700’s, and alongside their fellow Americans in the Revolutionary War.  They also fought 

with other Massachusetts residents in the Civil War, including in the famous 54th Massachusetts 

regiment.  

17. Nipmucs often married into other Nipmuc bands.  Marriage among members of Nipmuc 

bands continued in the 18th, 19th and 20th centuries.   

18. Even though more Nipmucs lived outside the Reservation, they continued to maintain 

strong kinship ties, received annuity payments from the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, and 

established Nipmuc enclaves.  They returned to the Reservation for regular social and political 

gatherings.  The Nipmucs continued to resolve tribal disputes and discuss tribal affairs, and 

retained their native craft traditions, including making baskets, brooms, chairs and shoes. 

19. Early in the 1800’s, the building structure referred to as the “Homestead” was constructed 

on the Reservation, where social and political gatherings, such as pow-wows took, and currently 

continue to take, place.  The Sarah Boston/Muckamaug parcel of land in Grafton, Massachusetts 

was also a center of Nipmuc activity.  Once that land was sold in the mid-19th century, the 

Reservation became, and continues to be, the focal point for the Nipmuc Nation and its members. 
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20. In June 1869, the Massachusetts Indian Enfranchisement Act declared that all “Indians 

and people of color, heretofore known and called Indians” to be citizens of Massachusetts.  One 

consequence of this legislation was that it allowed Indian, including Nipmuc, land to be sold 

without the direct management of state guardians.  In 1871, Nipmuc land located in Dudley, 

Massachusetts was sold, with the Nipmucs placed in other housing or moved in with other 

Nipmucs, living on the Reservation in Grafton, Massachusetts or in Connecticut, Rhode Island 

and Worcester, Massachusetts. 

21. Nipmuc activities continued to be centered around the Reservation.  In the 1920’s, the 

Nipmucs became politically involved in pan-Indian organizations, such as the Indian Council of 

New England (known now as the National Algonquin Indian Council).  In 1930, the 

Massachusetts Bay Colony Tercentary Marker was erected and confirmed that the Reservation 

“never belonged to the white man, having been set aside in 1728 as an Indian Reservation.”  

Grafton remains the geographical core of the Nipmuc Nation, where Hassanamisco, 

Dudley/Webster and off-Reservation Nipmucs interact, discuss tribal business, attend annual 

tribal gatherings and engage in tribal activities, including the annual pow-wow and elections.  

The Nipmucs continue tribal rites of passages (e.g., naming ceremonies), maintain a Nipmuc 

tribal council and the core Nipmuc families continue to interact with each other as Nipmucs. 

22. In the early 1900’s, the Cisco family from the Hassanamisco band became tribal leaders 

and formed the Mohawk Club (later changed to the Hassanamisco Club), which discussed 

educational, cultural and social events.  The Cisco family served as a bridge between various 

parts of the Nipmuc community and served as the Nipmuc representative to national, state, local 

and other tribal governments.  James Lemuel Cisco was recognized as the leader of the 

Hassanamisco band of Nipmucs.   
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23. After her father, James Lemuel Cisco, passed away in 1931, Sarah Cisco Sullivan 

assumed leadership responsibilities and actively promoted Nipmuc traditions and rights, 

including petitioning the government for pensions, return of Nipmuc land to Nipmuc people and 

assistance for maintenance of the Reservation.   

24. During World War II, Nipmuc men fought alongside their fellow citizens.  Following the 

war, community gatherings continued.  Some activities were open to the public, while others 

remained Nipmuc-only. 

25. In 1950, the Nipmuc Indian Chapter of Worcester was formed to provide for the 

educational and cultural advancement of the Nipmucs.  Interactions with other tribes and leaders 

from the region continued through documented pow-wows and social and political gatherings.  

Joe Vickers, father of Walter Vickers, became Medicine Man of the Nipmuc Nation. 

26. In 1962, the Hassanamisco Foundation was created to ensure the preservation and 

maintenance of the Reservation.  While public education programs had occurred at the 

Reservation for decades, an official museum was established on the Reservation in the 1960’s.  

Public events held at the Reservation were so well attended by the public that the annual pow-

wows were extended from a single-day to a multi-day event. 

27. In 1964, Sarah Cisco Sullivan died, and her daughter Zara CiscoeBrough assumed 

leadership of the Nipmuc Nation until the 1980’s.  Interactions with other tribes on a regional 

and national scale increased under the leadership of Sarah Cisco Sullivan and continued to 

increase with Zara Ciscoe Brough, who was recognized nationally as an Eastern Indian leader. 

28. In 1976, by Executive Order No. 126 signed by Governor Michael Dukakis, the 

Commonwealth of Massachusetts officially recognized the Nipmuc tribe, and ordered state 

agencies to deal “with the Hassanamisco Nipmuc Tribal Council on matters affecting the 
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Nipmuc Tribe.”  A copy of this Executive Order is attached hereto as Exhibit A. 

29. In the 1970’s, the Nipmuc Nation attempted to increase its tribal land base, established a 

support center for tribal members in Worcester, Massachusetts, began preparations for applying 

for federal acknowledgment as an Indian tribe and secured its rights to retain tribal artifacts 

discovered from the dredging of Lake Ripple in Grafton, Massachusetts.  

30. The 1980’s witnessed political turmoil within the Nipmuc Nation.  Walter Vickers 

became the chief of the Nipmuc Nation in 1982. Later, Edwin Morse created the 

Chaubunagungamaug band, comprised of Dudley/Webster Nipmucs.   

31. In 1980, the Nipmuc Nation filed its letter of intent to apply for federal acknowledgment 

as an Indian tribe with the BIA.  Following the death of Zara CiscoeBrough in 1988, efforts to 

achieve federal acknowledgment continued under the leadership of Walter Vickers and the 

Nipmuc Tribal Acknowledgment Project, based in Worcester, Massachusetts.  The newly formed 

Chaubunagungamaug band separated from the Nipmuc Nation during the administrative federal 

acknowledgment process and became known as petitioner 69B by the Defendants. 

32. The Nipmuc Nation currently consists of members with documented descent from 

historic Nipmuc people.  A substantial portion of the Nipmuc Nation continues to live in the 

same geographic area of Central Massachusetts and parts of Rhode Island and Connecticut.  

Members continue to gather formally and informally, vote in tribal elections and marry other 

members of the Nipmuc Nation.  Annual pow-wows and other tribal events continue to take 

place on the Reservation. 

33. The Nipmucs are governed by the Nipmuc Nation Constitution of 1993, as amended on 

November 3, 2001.  The aspirations of the Nipmuc Nation include preservation of the tribal 

entity, retention and maintenance of the homeland, perpetuation of cultural traditions, work on 
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expansion of the tribe’s lands and economic opportunities, and attaining federal acknowledgment 

as an Indian tribe. 

Administrative Background 

34. In 1978, the Department of the Interior published regulations governing the procedure for 

official acknowledgment of Indian tribes.  25 C.F.R. Part 83 (1978).  These regulations came 

about after Congress began conditioning eligibility for most programs benefiting American 

Indians upon status as a tribe recognized by the federal government.  See 25 C.F.R. § 83.2. 

35. Under these regulations, the BIA (through OFA) conducts its own research, accepts 

materials from the petitioning tribe and any other interested parties, and publishes proposed 

findings and a summary of evidence supporting its findings.  The Assistant Secretary for Indian 

Affairs (“AS-IA”) makes a final decision after a notice and comment period. 

36. The criteria under which the BIA must determine federal acknowledgment is presently 

codified at 25 C.F.R. § 83.7.  Specifically, the BIA must find: (a) the petitioner has been 

identified as an American Indian entity on a substantially continuous basis since 1900; (b) a 

predominant portion of the petitioning tribe comprises a distinct community and has existed as a 

community from historical times until the present; (c) the petitioner has maintained political 

influence or authority over its members as an autonomous entity from historical times until the 

present; (d) evidence of governing procedures and membership criteria; (e) the petitioner’s 

membership consists of individuals descending from a historical Indian tribe; (f) the membership 

of the petitioning group is composed principally of persons who are not members of any 

acknowledged North American Indian tribe; and (g) neither the petitioner nor its members are 

the subject of congressional legislation that has expressly terminated or forbidden the federal 

relationship.  25 C.F.R. § 83.7. 
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37. The regulations specifically provide that the aforementioned criteria for acknowledgment 

“shall be considered met if the available evidence establishes a reasonable likelihood of the 

validity of the facts relating to that criterion.  Conclusive proof of the facts relating to a criterion 

shall not be required in order for the criterion to be considered met.”  25 C.F.R. § 83.6(d). 

Petition History 

38. On April 22, 1980, the Nipmuc Nation filed its Letter of Intent to petition for Federal 

Acknowledgment with the BIA.  A copy of the letter of intent is attached hereto as Exhibit B.  

On July 11, 1995, the Nipmuc Nation Petition for Federal Acknowledgment was placed on active 

status by the BIA. 

39. On January 19, 2001, the last full day of the Clinton Administration, a Proposed Finding 

in favor of acknowledgment was executed by then AS-IA Michael Anderson (the “First PF”).  A 

copy of the First PF is attached hereto as Exhibit C.  On the following day, the first day of the 

Bush Administration, the new administration issued an Administrative Directive that prevented 

the publication of the First PF in the Federal Register in accordance with the regulations.  25 

C.F.R. § 83.10(g).   

40. Over eight (8) months later on September 25, 2001, then AS-IA Neal A. McCaleb 

reversed AS-IA Anderson and issued a negative proposed finding (the “Second PF”).    The 

Second PF was published in the Federal Register on October 1, 2001.  A copy of the publication 

of the Second PF in the Federal Register is attached hereto as Exhibit D. 

41. At Plaintiff’s request, on January 23, 2002, the BIA held a Technical Assistance Meeting 

(“TA Meeting”) on the record with Plaintiff and interested parties.  A transcript of the TA 

Meeting is attached hereto as Exhibit E.  The Plaintiff then filed its Response to the Second PF 

with the BIA on September 30, 2002, and its Reply to the Responses of the interested parties on 
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November 19, 2002.    

42. The BIA waited until almost nineteen (19) months before Principal Deputy AS-IA Martin 

issued the Summary Under the Criteria and Evidence for Final Determination against Federal 

Acknowledgment (“Final Determination”) on June 18, 2004, declining to acknowledge the 

Nipmuc Nation and alleging that Plaintiff failed to meet the same four (4) criteria as those 

specified in the Second PF.  A copy of the Final Determination is attached hereto as Exhibit F. 

43.  On June 25, 2004, the BIA caused a notice of the Final Determination to be published in 

the Federal Register. 

44. On September 23, 2004, the Nipmuc Nation filed its Request for Reconsideration 

(“Request for Reconsideration”) with the Interior Board of Indian Appeals (the “IBIA”) in 

accordance with 25 C.F.R. § 83.11.   

45. On September 4, 2007, the IBIA issued its Order Affirming Final Determination and 

Referring Sixteen Issues to the Secretary of the Interior (the “IBIA Order”).   

46. On January 28, 2008, the Secretary of the Department of Interior issued a letter to the 

Nipmuc Nation, notifying it of its decision not to exercise his discretion to direct additional 

reconsideration by the Assistant Secretary of the sixteen issues identified in the IBIA Order.  A 

copy of the letter is attached hereto as Exhibit G.  As a result, the Final Determination became 

final on January 28, 2008.   

47. The Nipmuc Nation has exhausted its administrative remedies and timely files this 

Complaint for Declaratory and Other Relief with this Court pursuant to the Administrative 

Procedure Act, 5 U.S.C. § 701, et seq. 

The BIA’s 25 C.F.R. § 83.7(a) Determination (External Identification) 

48. Criterion (a) requires “[t]he petitioner to prove that it “has been identified as an American 
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Indian entity on a substantially continuous basis since 1900.”  25 C.F.R. § 83.7(a).  The BIA 

required that a petitioning tribe be externally identified from 1900 through 1980.  Final 

Determination, at 8. 

49. In an unprecedented move beyond the scope of the regulations, the BIA imposed a more 

stringent requirement on the Nipmuc Nation to prove that its external identifications included 

“the antecedents of the petitioner as it now defines itself.”  Final Determination, at 37.  The BIA 

defined the Nipmuc Nation as follows: “the ‘historic Nipmuc tribe’ is interpreted as meaning 

those individuals and families of Nipmuc and other Indian ancestry who were part of the 

Hassanamisco tribal community by the 1920’s.”  Id.   

50. Determining that Plaintiff’s evidence for 1900-1940 only identified the Hassanamisco 

band, the BIA concluded that the external identifications did not include the antecedent 

components of the Nipmuc Nation outside the Hassanamisco band and, thus, Plaintiff failed to 

satisfy criterion (a).  Id. at 40-41. 

51. The BIA’s newfound requirement under criterion (a) is arbitrary and capricious because it 

has no basis in law or precedent.  Examples included in the regulation of how criterion (a) could 

be satisfied make no mention of comprehensive identifications that trace each and every 

component of a tribe.  See 25 C.F.R. 83.7(a).  Instead, the regulation only requires external 

identification of an “Indian entity.”  See id.   

52. The Official Acknowledgment Guidelines clarify that “entity” describes “a political, self-

governing group” and, thus, is not meant to be comprehensive of all bands or other subgroups 

within a tribe.  The Official Guidelines to the Federal Acknowledgment Regulations, 25 CFR 83, 

Bureau of Indian Affairs, U.S. Department of the Interior (“OFA Guidelines”), at 41-42 (Sept. 

1997).   
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53. Further, no BIA precedent requires external identifications of every component of a tribe 

to satisfy criterion (a).  Rather, the BIA’s Precedent Manual provides numerous examples of 

how petitioners were found to meet criterion (a) for specific time periods when only one 

component of the petitioner was identified externally (e.g., Houma, Gay Head Wampanoag, 

Match-e-be-nash-she-wish, Huron Potawatomi, Cowlitz and others).  Acknowledgment 

Precedent Manual, Office of Federal Acknowledgment, U.S. Department of Interior (“Precedent 

Manual), at 8-9 (Jan. 2005).  

54. Accordingly, the BIA’s finding that the Hassanamisco band has been identified on a 

substantially continuous basis since 1900 should have been sufficient for criterion (a).  See Final 

Determination, at 40-41. 

55. Even under the BIA’s newly imposed requirement, Plaintiff could have satisfied criterion 

(a) had the BIA complied with 25 C.F.R. § 83.6(d) and considered all available evidence.  

Plaintiff presented evidence of identifications of other components of the Nipmuc Nation, in 

addition to the Hassanamisco band.  For example, the evidence showed that external 

identifications of the Dudley/Webster band were made as early as 1927.  Final Determination, at 

39.  The BIA, however, ignored such evidence because the identifications occurred in the context 

of pan-tribal activities.  Id. at 41.  Such flagrant disregard of material evidence was arbitrary, 

capricious and an abuse of discretion because the BIA previously has considered such evidence 

of pan-tribal activities in approving federal acknowledgment petitions for other tribes (e.g., 

Narragansett, Gay Head Wampanoag, Eastern Pequot and Schaghticoke).   

56. Additionally, comments made during the TA Meeting, that “acceptance of a group by a 

pan-Indian organization constitutes, to some extent, an external identification of an entity,” 

misled the Nipmuc Nation of the relevance of its evidence and how the BIA would really 
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evaluate the tribe.  TA Meeting Transcript, 87:3-5. 

57. The BIA failed to review the Petition with respect to criterion (a) appropriately and in 

accordance with the regulations and precedent and, thus, issued an arbitrary and capricious Final 

Determination. 

 The BIA’s 25 C.F.R. § 83.7(b) Determination (Community)  

58. Criterion (b) requires the petitioner to prove that a “predominant portion of the 

petitioning group comprises a distinct community and has existed as a community from 

historical times until the present.”  The BIA required evidence of a community beginning from 

1780.  Final Determination, at 8. 

59. Despite considerable evidence showing both formal and informal tribal gatherings on a 

regular basis, a notable geographic concentration (facilitating social interaction), and a core 

group promoting traditional Nipmuc culture, the BIA determined that the Nipmuc Nation is not a 

community and, thus, failed to meet criterion (b). 

60. Pursuant to 25 C.F.R. § 83.6(d), the BIA is mandated to consider a criterion satisfied 

when available evidence shows a reasonable likelihood of related facts; conclusive proof is not 

required.   

61. Notwithstanding the foregoing burden of proof, the BIA failed to consider all undisputed 

and available evidence pertaining to community, which collectively surpassed the low standard 

of “reasonable likelihood” and strongly established that a Nipmuc community has existed since 

historical times.  The BIA, instead, issued an unsupported finding, concluding that the evidence 

failed to prove the existence of a Nipmuc community. 

62. Among other issues, the BIA unjustifiably disregarded substantial evidence of sustained 

relationships and connections between persons with Hassanamisco, Dudley/Webster and mixed-
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Nipmuc band ancestry.  Such evidence includes: (a) applications for pension or other death 

benefits for a Dudley/Webster band descendent signed by Hassanamisco and mixed-Nipmuc 

band relatives; (b) inter-band marriages; (c) living arrangements that placed Nipmuc Nation’s 

ancestors from different bands in close proximity; (d) documented cross-band friendships formed 

during shared military service in Queen Anne’s War, King George’s War, Revolutionary War, 

Civil War and World War II; and (e) the “connector” roles played by the Nipmuc 

Curliss/Vickers family and the Nipmucs living in Worcester, Massachusetts between the 

Hassanamisco and Dudley/Webster bands.   

63. The BIA justified its disregard of such evidence, in part, because they were in a pan-tribal 

context.  Final Determination, at 85.  The BIA’s failure to consider such evidence is arbitrary and 

capricious because it is in violation of the regulations and is against BIA precedent (where less 

evidence of social interaction has been found sufficient). 

64. The BIA further acted arbitrarily and capriciously because it issued a finding in the Final 

Determination that directly contradicts representations made by a BIA official during the TA 

Meeting and relied upon by the Nipmuc Nation. 

65. In the Final Determination, the BIA noted that the evidence did not show that the 

Dudley/Webster band coalesced around Hassanamisco by the 1920’s.  Final Determination, at 

86. 

66. During the TA Meeting, however, in response to a question under criterion (b), Dr. 

Virginia DeMarce, a BIA representative and lead researcher, said: “I think it would be feasible to 

say that during this period [1900 – 1978] you would have a Hassanamisco focused group which 

had associated to itself some, but certainly not all, of the Dudley/Webster descendant families.”  

TA Meeting Transcript, 21:11-16. 
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67. The BIA abused its discretion when it changed its analysis of the evidence with regard to 

criterion (b) between the TA Meeting and the issuance of the Final Determination, on the same 

evidence and without notice to the Nipmuc Nation. 

68. In addition, the BIA imposed a more stringent standard of proof on the Nipmuc Nation 

not required under the regulations. 

69. The regulations provide two (2) avenues for the government to find that a petitioning 

tribe satisfied this criterion: (a) under 25 C.F.R. § 83.7(b)(1), “[t]his criterion may be 

demonstrated by some combination of the following evidence and/or other evidence,” such as 

“significant rates of marriage,” “significant social relationships,” and “significant rates of 

informal social interaction,” or (b) under 25 C.F.R. § 83.7(b)(2) (emphasis added), “[a] 

petitioner shall be considered to have provided sufficient evidence of community” if the 

petitioner is able to meet more stringent evidentiary standards (e.g., “more than 50% of members 

reside in a geographic area exclusively or almost exclusively composed of members”).  

70. The BIA analyzed the evidence only under the higher evidentiary burden in 25 C.F.R. § 

83.7(b)(2), found the evidence insufficient and concluded that the Nipmuc Nation did not satisfy 

this criterion.  Final Determination, at 48-49.   

71. The BIA, however, refused to consider the evidence under the less stringent rubric in 25 

C.F.R. § 83.7(b)(1).  The considerable evidence presented by the Nipmuc Nation 

overwhelmingly proved the existence of a Nipmuc community.   

72. By failing to consider 25 C.F.R. § 83.7(b)(1) and requiring Plaintiff to satisfy 25 C.F.R. § 

83.7(b)(2), the BIA arbitrarily and capriciously misapplied the regulations to deny Plaintiff 

federal acknowledgment. 
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The BIA’s 25 C.F.R. § 83.7(c) Determination (Political Influence or Authority) 

73. The BIA determined that the Nipmuc Nation also failed to meet the requirements of 25 

C.F.R. § 83.7(c), that the tribe maintain a political organization from 1780 to the present.  The 

BIA unjustifiably concluded in the Final Determination that (a) there was no political influence 

or authority “within a Hassanamisco entity between 1785 and 1900,” (b) the evidence did “not 

demonstrate that any Hassanamisco ‘tribal entity’ that included the majority of the current 

petitioner’s ancestors existed in any definable sense” from 1900 to 1961, and (c) “there were 

only limited issues dealt with by the Hassanamisco council [that] were of importance to its 

members.”  Final Determination, at 8, 151-153 (emphasis added).  Further, the BIA unjustifiably 

analyzed all evidence “in terms of the Hassanamisco organization until 1990,” rather than 

consider all available evidence pertaining to all Nipmuc bands.  Id. at 153 (emphasis added).  

74. The fundamental error underlying the BIA’s criterion (c) analysis is requiring the Nipmuc 

Nation to prove a political organization within the Hassanamisco “tribal entity.”  By this 

newfound requirement, the BIA effectively redefined the petitioning tribe to simply 

Hassanamisco.  Nipmuc Nation, however, is the tribe, and Hassanamisco is a band within this 

tribe.  By virtue of its redefinition, the BIA justified excluding considerable evidence regarding 

non-Hassanamisco bands and off-Reservation Nipmucs and limited its analysis only to that 

evidence pertaining to the “Hassanamisco organization.”  In doing so, the BIA did not consider 

all available evidence presented to it, as mandated by 25 C.F.R. § 83.6(d), and denied the 

Nipmuc Nation the right to define itself. 

75. Another significant mistake is that the BIA altered the criterion to require Plaintiff to 

prove that the entity over which Plaintiff had political influence be comprised of a “majority of 

the current petitioner’s ancestors.”  Final Determination, at 152.  No such requirement exists in 
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the regulation, nor do OFA guidelines suggest that a “majority” of a petitioning tribe’s ancestors 

be subject to political authority is needed to satisfy the criterion.  See 25 C.F.R. § 83.7(c); OFA 

Guidelines, at 48-49. 

76. Even under the BIA’s narrowed universe of evidence, it refused to consider all available 

Hassanamisco evidence that would have supported a finding that Plaintiff satisfied criterion (c).  

For example, the BIA disregarded evidence: (a) that a Hassanamisco band leader petitioned to 

sell land for the benefit of the tribe; (b) regarding the election of Hassanamisco leaders to 

maintain stewardship over historic tribal burial grounds; and (c) regarding a Nipmuc tribal 

council agreeing to give money to its members for food, medical care and repairs for housing 

damaged due to a fire.  All such evidence is acceptable evidence under 25 C.F.R. §§ 

83.7(c)(1)(i), (c)(2)(i).   

77. The BIA also inexplicably required documentary evidence to corroborate oral evidence 

regarding annual and other tribal gatherings and found Plaintiff’s evidence insufficient on that 

basis.  Final Determination, at 102.  In doing so, the BIA summarily ignored its own precedent 

(e.g., Eastern Pequot and Little Shell Chippewa) and OFA’s explicit policy calling for 

acceptance of such evidence without corroboration.  OFA Guidelines, at 22-23.  The BIA 

wrongfully disregarded further evidence of political influence or authority because it pertained to 

pan-tribal activities.  Final Determination, at 99, 152. 

78. The evidence easily surpassed the low “reasonable likelihood” burden of proof and 

proved the existence of political influence or authority.  The BIA, however, failed to find that the 

Nipmuc Nation satisfied criterion (b), as required.  The BIA’s dismissal of all available evidence, 

relating to Hassanamisco, other bands and off-Reservation Nipmucs, and imposition of a burden 

of proof more challenging than the law requires is arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion 
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and unfairly prejudiced the Nipmuc Nation. 

The BIA’s 25 C.F.R. § 83.7(e) Determination (Descent) 

79. The BIA made three (3) crucial errors in its analysis under criterion (e) regarding whether 

members descended from a historical Indian tribe.   

80. First, the BIA inexplicably divided the Nipmuc Nation into two (2) separate entities, 

Hassanamisco and Dudley/Webster, rather than consider these groups as two (2) bands within 

one (1) tribe.  In doing so, the BIA denied the Nipmuc Nation of the ability to define itself and 

seized that fundamental responsibility from the tribe and gave it to the government.  A direct 

result of the BIA’s arbitrary and capricious decision was that the BIA did not consider the 

Nipmuc Nation’s evidence holistically and cumulatively.   

81. Instead, the BIA considered evidence of Hassanamisco descent separate and apart from 

Dudley/Webster descent in its criterion (e) analysis and did not find either evidence 

independently sufficient.  The BIA justified its analysis of the evidence on the failure of these 

groups to “amalgamate,” a finding made possible only by its deliberate disregard of evidence of 

substantial interaction between the two groups.  Final Determination, at 167.   

82. Criterion (e), however, requires descent “from a historical Indian tribe or from historical 

Indian tribes which combined and functioned as a single autonomous political entity” – no 

amalgamation requirement is present.  The BIA’s imposition of the amalgamation requirement is 

arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion and unfairly prejudiced the Nipmuc Nation.   

83. Second, the BIA required Plaintiff to prove that a certain percentage of its members 

descended from a historical Indian tribe.  This action directly contradicts the AS-IA’s comments 

that “the Department [of the Interior] has intentionally avoided establishing a specific percentage 

to demonstrate required ancestry under criterion (e).  This is because the significance of the 
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percentage varies with the history and nature of the group and the particular reasons why a 

portion of the membership may not meet the requirements of the criterion.”  59 F.R. 9280, 9289 

(Feb. 25, 1994).  In complete disregard for the AS-IA’s specific position, the BIA required 

Plaintiff to prove at least eighty-five percent (85%) ancestry.  Final Determination, at 177, n.150. 

84. Third, the BIA failed to find that Mary (Curliss) Vickers is a descendant of the Nipmuc 

Nation.  Final Determination, at 177.  Such a failure is in stark contrast to the representations its 

official made during the TA Meeting that the Curliss/Vickers line was “counted as having 

Nipmuc ancestry.”  TA Meeting, at 66:22-67:5.   

85. The BIA drastically changed its conclusion regarding the ancestry of Mary (Curliss) 

Vickers between the TA Meeting and the Final Determination on the same evidentiary record.  

The BIA’s inexplicable decision in this regard is arbitrary and capricious.  

86. The BIA further disregarded material evidence that reasonably shows a likelihood that 

Mary’s grandmother was descended from the Nipmuc Nation, in violation of 25 C.F.R. § 

83.6(d).  From this, the BIA excluded 177 of Mary’s descendants from its Nipmuc descent 

analysis, and the percentage of Nipmuc descendants plummeted accordingly.  Final 

Determination, at 176.  With the percentage below the BIA’s arbitrary 85% threshold, the BIA 

held that Plaintiff did not satisfy criterion (e).  Id. at 177-78. 

87. The BIA should have analyzed Plaintiff as a tribe consisting of all Nipmuc bands, 

including Hassanamisco and Dudley/Webster, and evaluated the evidence of descent 

accordingly, and should not have defined Plaintiff in a way that guarantees Plaintiff’s failure. A 

cumulative review of the evidence, including those members who trace their lineage to Mary 

(Curliss) Vickers, would have shown that 97% of Plaintiff’s members can trace their descent 

from a single historical tribe, in satisfaction of criterion (e).  

Case 4:14-cv-40013   Document 1   Filed 01/27/14   Page 20 of 26



35501005.4 -21-  

HARM TO PLAINTIFF 

88. The Nipmuc Nation and its members are adversely affected and aggrieved by the Final 

Determination by the Defendants in that it deprives them of rights and benefits accorded to 

federally recognized tribes and their members. 

89. The Nipmuc Nation and its members have suffered substantial injury as a result of 

Defendants’ actions, including the lost opportunity to exercise their reserved treaty right to fish, 

hunt and gather in their aboriginal territory and the right to have lands held in trust by the United 

States. 

90. The Nipmuc Nation and its members are further adversely affected and aggrieved by the 

Final Determination of the Defendants in that it significantly deprives them of their ability to 

maintain and support their distinct tribal and cultural identity.  The Final Determination denies 

the Nipmuc Nation its history and identity. 

CLAIMS 

Count One – Defendants’ Final Determination Violates the Administrative Procedures Act 

91. Plaintiff realleges Paragraphs 1 through 90 above as if fully set forth herein. 

92. The BIA acted arbitrarily and capriciously and abused its discretion by imposing 

requirements on Plaintiff not included in the regulations and by disregarding substantial evidence 

in favor of Plaintiff.  The BIA disregarded the preponderance of the evidence standard mandated 

by its regulations by (1) resolving all doubts against the petitioner and (2) refusing to consider 

available evidence.  The BIA also evaluated and discounted each piece of evidence standing 

alone, without properly considering its context or the record as a whole. 

93. The regulations first promulgated in 1978 required acknowledgment decisions to be made 

on factual, historical evidence, weighed in a reasoned and unbiased fashion in accordance with 
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the defined criteria.   The BIA’s administration of the acknowledgment process with the Petition 

failed to meet that basic standard. 

94. In this case, the BIA reached its conclusions despite the submission of thousands of pages 

of historical evidence, studies, expert opinions and other materials, all of which collectively 

demonstrate that the Nipmuc Nation meet the BIA’s acknowledgment criteria.  The BIA failed to 

consider and weigh the evidence according to required legal standards. 

95. Because the BIA failed to apply the correct standard of proof, violated its own 

regulations and changed its evaluation process without prior notice, opportunity to comment, or 

opportunity to submit additional material in response to the changed process, the Final 

Determination against federal acknowledgment was arbitrary, capricious, an abuse of discretion, 

against substantial evidence and not in accordance with law.  Accordingly, Plaintiff is entitled to 

relief pursuant to 5 U.S.C. § 706(2). 

Count Two – Defendants’ Final Determination Denied Plaintiff Procedural Due Process 

96. Plaintiff realleges Paragraphs 1 through 95 above as if fully set forth herein. 

97. The Fifth Amendment of the United States Constitution provides that no person “shall be 

deprived of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law.”  Due process necessarily 

includes the opportunity to be heard at a meaningful time and in a meaningful manner by an 

impartial decision maker.  The basic purpose of due process is to preserve both the appearance 

and reality of fairness in all adjudicative proceedings. 

98. When a Government agency does not follow its own rules, regulations, or procedures, 

due process is violated and its action cannot stand.  The purpose behind this rule is to prevent the 

arbitrariness which is inherently characteristic of an agency’s violation of its own procedures.  

An administrative agency is bound to observe its own regulations, and denies due process if it 
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fails to do so. 

99. Defendants violated Plaintiff’s due process rights because the BIA failed to follow the 

regulations set forth in 25 C.F.R. § 83.  In the Final Determination, the BIA disregarded the 

reasonable likelihood standard in 25 C.F.R. § 83.6(d) by imposing higher burdens of proof and 

by willfully omitting or ignoring evidence within its possession that supported the Petition.  The 

BIA further abandoned its own precedent to reach its unsupported conclusion that Plaintiff failed 

to satisfy criteria (a), (b), (c) and (e), when precedent included successful acknowledgment 

petitions on substantially less evidence than that presented by Plaintiff. 

100. Defendants’ wrongful denial of due process has resulted in the inability of 

Plaintiff to enjoy the rights and benefits to which they would be entitled as a federally 

acknowledged tribe.  Denial of these rights and benefits has and continues to harm the Nipmuc 

Nation. 

Count Three - Defendants’ Final Determination Denied Plaintiff Equal Protection 

101. Plaintiff realleges Paragraphs 1 through 100 above as if fully set forth herein. 

102. Defendants violated Plaintiff’s equal protection rights by disregarding evidence in 

the Nipmuc Nation Petition that was considered in applications for similarly situated tribes 

requesting federal acknowledgment as an Indian Tribe under 25 C.F.R. Part 83. 

103. Specifically, in its analysis of criterion (b) under the regulations, the BIA 

disregarded or ignored evidence that the Nipmuc Curliss/Vickers family and Nipmucs from 

Worcester, Massachusetts played important “connector” roles between the Hassanamisco and 

Dudley/Webster groups for proof that the two groups had sustained relationships.  In the Eastern 

Pequot case, where the petitioning tribe was found to have satisfied criterion (b), the BIA 

considered evidence that the Jackson family line played the “bridge or connector” between two 
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groups within the tribe.  The BIA found that such relationships proved that the two groups were 

part of one community.  The BIA should have given the same consideration and analysis to 

similar evidence in the Nipmuc Nation’s Petition.  The BIA denied Nipmuc Nation equal 

protection under the law by its refusal to do so.  

104. The BIA disregarded evidence of Nipmuc Nation’s pan-tribal activities in its 

analysis of criteria (a), (b) and (c) under the regulations.  Final Determination, at 41, 85, 152.  In 

contrast, the BIA considered such pan-tribal evidence in the Narragansett, Gay Head 

Wampanoag, Eastern Pequot and Schaghticoke cases.   

105. With pan-tribal evidence excluded, the Nipmuc Nation was left with external 

identifications of only one Nipmuc component: Hassanamisco.  Because the BIA, sua sponte, 

required proof of all antecedent components being externally identified, it found the 

Hassanamisco external identifications insufficient.  In previous cases, including the Houma, 

Chinook, Gay Head Wampanoag, Match-e-be-nash-she-wish, Huron Potawatomi, Cowlitz, 

Steilacoom and Little Shell cases, however, the BIA found that evidence of only one component 

of the tribe was sufficient to satisfy this criterion.  

106. In its criterion (e) analysis, the BIA disregarded evidence of interrelationships 

between the Hassanamisco and Dudley/Webster groups.  Plaintiff’s evidence proved that there 

was substantial continuous interaction between these groups, such as through the Cisco family’s 

work on tribal matters, both groups’ strong self-identification as Nipmuc, both groups’ 

participation in annual Nipmuc gatherings and family and kinship networks that spanned across 

the two groups.  Despite such evidence, the BIA ruled that the Nipmuc Nation must prove 

descent from Hassanamisco ancestors only.  In the Eastern Pequot, Cowlitz, Little Shell and Gay 

Head Wampanoag cases, however, the BIA found sufficient interaction between distinct groups 
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within a single tribe and ruled that descent could be from all groups, on much less evidence than 

was presented by the Nipmuc Nation.   

107. The BIA’s refusal to consider such evidence in the Petition, despite its 

consideration of similar evidence in the applications of other similarly situated tribes seeking 

federal acknowledgment, deprived the Nipmuc Nation of equal protection under the law. 

RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff Nipmuc Nation respectfully seeks the following relief from this 

Court: 

1. To reverse and vacate the Final Determination against federal acknowledgment; 

2. To declare that the Final Determination was in excess of authority, arbitrary and 

capricious, without observance of procedure required by law, unsupported by application of the 

proper burden of proof or by substantial evidence in the record, otherwise not in accordance with 

law, and/or denial of due process and/or equal protection, and must be set aside; 

3. To declare that the Nipmuc Nation is now, and has always been entitled to be, recognized 

and acknowledged as an Indian Tribe by Defendants; 

4. To declare that the Defendants unlawfully failed to include the Nipmuc Nation on the list 

of federally recognized tribes published in the Federal Register; 

5. In the alternative, to reverse, vacate and remand to Defendants with instructions 

consistent with the Court’s findings regarding the BIA’s utilization of Plaintiff’s definition of 

itself, and not the BIA’s definition, and the sufficiency of the Nipmuc Nation’s evidence to prove 

external identifications under criterion (a), community under criterion (b), political influence or 

authority under criterion (c) and descent from a historical Indian tribe criterion (c); and 

6. Such other or further relief as the Court may in its discretion deem necessary and 
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appropriate. 

 

 
DATED:  January 27, 2014 
 Respectfully submitted,  

 

THE NIPMUC NATION,  

By its attorneys, 
 
/s/ Christopher P. Sullivan________________ 
Christopher P. Sullivan,  (485120) 
Anthony A. Froio,  (554708) 
ROBINS, KAPLAN, MILLER & CIRESI L.L.P. 
800 Boylston Street 
25th Floor, Prudential Tower 
Boston, MA  02199-7080 
617-267-2300 
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